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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON
AT SEATTLE

FISH NORTHWEST, a Washington non-
profit corporation,
Plaintiff,

Y.

BARRY THOM, in his official capacity as
Regional Administrator of the National
Marine Fisheries Service; CHRIS OLIVER,
in his official capacity as the Assistant
Administrator for Fisheries of the National
Marine Fisheries Service; NATIONAL
MARINE FISHERIES SERVICE; GINA
RAIMONDQ, in her official capacity as
Secretary of the United States Department
of Commerce; DARRYL LaCOUNTE, in his
official capacity as Director of the Bureau of
Indian Affairs; BUREAU OF INDIAN
AFFAIRS; UNITED STATES
DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE;
MARTHA WILLIAMS, in her official
capacity as Principal Deputy Director of
U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service; U.S. FISH
AND WILDLIFE SERVICE; BYRON
ADKINS, in his official capacity as Director
of the U.S. Department of Interior; U.S.
DEPARTMENT OF INTERIOR; and
WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF FISH
AND WILDLIFE,

Defendants.
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L. INTRODUCTION

l. Each year, the State of Washington and the Puget Sound Indian Tribes
(collectively the “co-managers”) conduct salmon fisheries in the State of Washington. These
fisheries include recreational, commercial, subsistence, take-home and ceremonial fisheries.

2. The co-managers’ fisheries harm and kill species listed as both threatened and
endangered under the Endangered Species Act (“ESA”). These listed species include Coho
salmon, Chum salmon, Sockeye salmon, Steelhead trout, Chinook salmon, Southern Resident
killer whales, humpback whales, green sturgeon, eulachon, and two species of rockfish. Specific
to this lawsuit, the co-managers’ fisheries harm and kill listed salmon within the greater Puget
Sound area.

3. From 2014 to 2020, NMFS consulted pursuant to the ESA on single year actions
allegedly taken by the Bureau of Indian Affairs (“BIA”). These consultations resulted in
biological opinions that concluded the co-managers’ fisheries for each year were not likely to
jeopardize the existence or recovery of listed Puget Sound salmon. Importantly, non-treaty
fisheries for the State of Washington have been permitted to proceed based on this annual
consultation. However, because NMFS has taken the position that the State of Washington
cannot obtain its own annual ESA consultation, the Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife
(“WDFW™) is forced to concede to whatever demands the Treaty Tribes make regarding both
treaty tribal and non-treaty fisheries. This same single year consultation process is being used in
2021.

4. The single year consultation process employed by the parties results in both
procedural and substantive violations of the ESA. It also results in violations of U.S. v.

Washington, the Puget Sound Salmon Management Plan, and the Administrative Procedures Act.
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5. The biological opinions produced by NMFS acknowledge many deficiencies. For
example, in its 2020 biological opinion, NMFS acknowledges that the parties have been
prosecuting, and NMFS has been approving, fisheries that knowingly exceed rebuilding
exploitation rates (RER) for 13 of the total 14 Puget Sound Chinook salmon management units,
including populations essential to recovery.

6. In approving these fisheries, the parties are legally required to approve and
prosecute fisheries that are consistent with the Puget Sound Salmon Management Plan and the
Hood Canal Salmon Management Plan, among others,

7. The parties are in violation of the ESA, the orders of the court in U.S. v.
Washington and the Puget Sound Management Plan. The result is that the salmon stocks of
Puget Sound continue a downward spiral towards extinction.

II. PARTIES

8. Fish Northwest is a Washington non-profit corporation that is committed to the
consetrvation and preservation of Puget Sound salmon and restoring and expanding fishing
opportunities for Washington’s anglers. Its members include individuals that enjoy fishing and
care deeply about the conservation and recovery of Puget Sound salmon. Fish Northwest’s
members include businesses that rely on salmon fisheries for Puget Sound salmon.

9. Fish Northwest’s injuries and those of its members are actual, concrete and/or
tmminent, and are fairly traceable to Defendants’ violations of the ESA as described herein that
the Court may remedy by declaring that Defendants’ actions are illegal and issuing statutory and
injunctive relief enjoining Defendants” actions and requiring Defendants to comply with their

statutory and other legal obligations.
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10.  Defendant Barry Thom is the West Coast Regional Administrator of NMFS and is
being sued in that official capacity. Regional Administrator Thom has responsibility at the
regional level for ensuring that NMFES complies with applicable legal requirements. NMFS’s
West Coast Region issued the 2020 BiOp challenged herein, authorizes the annual fisheries that
take listed Puget Sound salmon and is in the process of approving the 2021 fisheries.

11. Chris Oliver is the Assistant Administrator for Fisheries of the NMES and is
being sued in that official capacity. Assistant Administrator Oliver is responsible for ensuring
that NMFS complies with applicable legal requirements.

12. Defendant NMFS is an office within the National Oceanic and Atmospheric
Administration, which is an agency within the United States Department of Commerce. NMFS
has been delegated responsibilities by the Secretary of Commerce to manage fisheries and to
protect imperiled species under the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management
Act (“Magnuson-Stevens Act”), 16 U.S.C. §§ 1801-1891d, and the ESA. NMFS issued the
2020 BiOp challenged herein, will approve the 2021 fisheries described herein, and authorizes
the annual fisheries that take listed Puget Sound salﬁlon.

13. Detendant Gina Raimondo is the Secretary of Commerce and is being sued in that
official capacity. The Secretary is vested with authority to manage fisheries and to protect
imperiled species under the Magnuson-Stevens Act and the ESA. The Secretary has the duty and
authority to conserve and recover threatened and endangered Puget Sound chinook salmon and is
responsible for the violations alleged in this case. Secretary Raimondo is responsible for
ensuring that the United States Department of Commerce, including the agencies within the

Department, complies with applicable legal requirements.

SCHEFTER & FRAWLEY
COMPLAINT Attornevs at Law
Page 4 of 17 1415 College Street SE

Lacey, Washington 98503
{360) 491-6666 * (360) 456-3632 fax




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26

Case 2:21-cv-00570 Document 1 Filed 04/28/21 Page 5 of 48

14.  The United States Department of Commerce is an executive department of the
United States. The Department of Commerce, through its Secretary, is responsible for managing
fisheries and protecting imperiled species under the Magnuson-Stevens Act and the ESA.

15.  Defendant Martha Williams is the Principal Deputy Director of the U.S. Fish and
Wildlife Service (USFWS) and is being sued in that official capacity. Principal Deputy Director
Martha Williams has responsibility for ensuring that USFWS complies with applicable legal

requirements.

16.  Defendant USFWS is an agency of the U.S. Department of Interior and provides
funding for and authorizes the fisheries at issue that result in the taking of ESA listed Puget
Sound salmon. USFWS is responsible for managing fisheries and protecting imperiled species
under the ESA.

17. Defendant U.S. Department of Interior is an executive department of the United
States. The U.S. Department of Interior, through its director, is responsible for managing
fisheries and protecting imperiled species under the ESA.

18. Defendant Byron Adkins is the Director of the U.S. Department of Interior and is
being sued in that official capacity. Director Byron Adkins is responsible for ensuring that the
U.S. Department of Interior complies with applicable legal requirements.

19.  Defendant Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife (“WDFW™) is an agency
of'the State of Washington and is charged with the conservation and management of
Washington’s salmon. WDFW sets non-treaty fishery harvest limits and thus the allocation of

salmon, and takes part in the Section 7 consultation process.
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20.  Defendant DARRYL LaCOUNTE is the Director of the Bureau of Indian Affairs
(BIA) and is being sued in that official capacity. Director Darryle LaCOUNTE has
responsibility for ensuring that BIA complies with applicable legal requirements.

21. Defendant BIA is an agency of the U.S. Department of Interior,

III. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

22. This Court has jurisdiction under the Administrative Procedure Act (“APA™), 5
U.S.C. §8§ 701706, section 11(g) of the ESA, 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g), and 28 U.S.C. § 1331
(federal question). The requested relief is proper under the ESA, 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g)(1)(A), the
APA, 5U.S.C. § 706, 28 U.S.C. § 2201 (declaratory relief), and 28 U.S.C. § 2202 (injunctive
relief). As required by the ESA citizen suit provision, 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g)(2)(A)(i), Fish
Northwest provided sixty days’ notice of its intent to sue through a letter dated and postmarked
January 29, 2021. A copy of that letter is attached as Exhibit 1 to this Complaint.

23.  TheESA, 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g)(1)(A), and the APA, 5 U.S.C. § 702, waive the
sdvereign immunity of the Defendants for these claims.

24,  The Westem District of Washington is the proper venue under 28 U.S.C. §
1391(e} and 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g)(3)(A) because the violations alleged, and/or substantial parts of
the events and omissions giving rise to the claims, occurred, and are occurring, within such
District. For example, Defendants actions jeopardize the continued existence of the endangered
and listed Puget Sound salmon.

25,  Fish Northwest has standing to bring this claim. An association, such as Fish
Northwest, has standing when (a) the suit is related to an issue that is germane to the
organization’s purpose; (b) the organization’s members would have standing to sue; and (c) the

members’ individual participation is not required, FRCP 24; see also Hunt v. Wash. State Apple

SCHEFTER & FRAWLEY
COMPLAINT Attorneys at Law
Page 6 of 17 1415 College Street SE

Lacey, Washington 98503
(360) 491-6666 * (360) 456-3632 fax




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26

Case 2:21-cv-00570 Document 1 Filed 04/28/21 Page 7 of 48

Advertising Comm’n, 432 U.S. 333, 343 (1977); Wartch v. Seldin, 422 .S, 490 (1975). All three
criteria are met,

IV. FACTS
A. The Endangered Species Act.

26.  The purpose of the ESA is to conserve endangered and threatened species and the
ecosystems upon which they depend. Section 9 of the ESA prohibits any person, including any
federal or state agency, Indian tribe, Indian, or other individual, from “taking” a listed species
without proper authorization, 16 U.S.C. § 1532(13). The term “take” is statutorily defined
broadly as “to harass, harm, pursue, hunt, shoot, wound, kill, trap, capture, or collect, or any
attempt to engage in any such conduct.” Id. § 1532(19). “Harm” is broadly defined as “an act
which actually kills or injures wildlife...” 50 C.E.R. § 222.102.

27, The ESA charges the Secretaries of the United States Department of Commerce
and Interior with administering and enforcing the ESA. The Secretaries have delegated their
responsibﬂities to NFMS and USFWS. NMES is responsible for marine fisheries.

28. Section 7 of the ESA requires all federal agencies to “insure that any action
authorized, funded, or carried out by such agency . . . is not likely to jeopardize the continued
existence of any endangered or threatened species or result in the destruction or adverse
modification of” habitat that has been designated as critical for such species. 16 U.S.C. §
[536(a)(2). “Jeopardize the continued existence of” is defined as “to engage in an action that
reasonably would be expected, either directly or indirectly, to reduce appreciably the likelihood

of both the survival and recovery of a listed species in the wild by reducing the reproduction,

" numbers, or distribution of that species.” 50 C.F.R. § 402.02. Recovery is defined as
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“improvement in the status of listed species to the point at which listing is no longer
appropriate.” Id.

29.  Consultation under Section 7 is intended to aid federal agencies in complying
with the substantive requirements of the ESA and Section 7. Consultation is required any
time a federal agency determines its proposed action “may affect a listed species.” 50
C.F.R. § 402.14. A federal action includes “all activities or programs of any kind
authorized, funded, or carried out, in whole or in part, by Federal agencies...” Pursuant to
50 CFR 402.03, section 7 applies to all “actions in which there is discretionary federal
involvement or control.”

B. BIA’s Authority and Fisheries Management

30. BIA’S authority 1s established under the Snyder Act of 1921 (25 U.S.C. 13). That
Act confers upon BIA the authority to spend funds appropriated by Congress for BIA activities.
Chapter 1 of 25 U.S.C. establishes the BIA and its powers. Nowhere there or anywhere in
Chapter 25 (Indians) does BIA have authority to make discretionary decisions concerning
fisheries that take Puget Sound salmon or exert control over fishing activities or the taking of
listed species in Washington State.

31.  Notevery federal action can trigger Section 7 consultation. “Section 7 and the
requirements of this part apply to all actions in which there is discretionary federal involvement
or control.” 50 CFR § 402.03. “Where an agency has no ability to prevent a certain effect due to
its limited statutory authority over the relevant actions, the agency cannot be considered a legally
relevant ‘cause’ of the effect, and the agency action therefore should not be considered

“discretionary” actions subject to Section 7.7 Defenders of Wildlife v. U.S. Environmental
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Protection Agency, 420 F.3d 946, 963 (quoting Dep't. of Transp. v. Public Citizen, 541 U.S. 752,
770 (2004)) (overruled on other grounds).

32. BIA has no ability to prevent the taking of listed species in fisheries in
Washington due to its limited, or absent, statutory authoritylover tribal and non-tribal fisheries.
It does not authorize or carry out any such activity. Similarly, BIA does not provide
discretionary funding for fisheries in Washington. Therefore, BIA’s alleged actions cannot be
considered a legally relevant “cause” of the taking and cannot be a basis for Section 7
consultation.

C. NMFS and USFWS Agency Actions

33.  NMEFS approves the state fisheries proposed by WDFW that take listed species of
salmon and steelhead. NMFS issues directives concerning harvest each year, pfovides
continuous input to both WDFW and the treaty tribes before, during and after the season setting
process, and monitors catch (such as ocean catch under both state and federal regulations) to
manage and, if necessary, opeh or close seasons as the year progresses. NMES authorizes
Washington State fisheries, just as it does treaty fisheries, that annually take listed species
including Puget Sound salmon.

34.  NMFS annually contributes roughly $2 million to the State of Washington
through a Pacific Coastal Salmon Recovery Fund grant. Hundreds of thousands of those dollars
are spent annually fo implement fisheries that take listed species, including creation of fishery
plans, in season management, and the collection of biological data to ensure fisheries are

compliant with the Pacific Salmon Treaty.

i
i
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35.  USFWS annual contributes nearly $1 million to WDFW from a Dingell-Johnson
Act grant. These funds are used to implement fisheries that take listed species, including
creation of fishery plans, in season management, and the collection of biological data to ensure
fisheries are compliant with the Pacific Salmon Treaty.

36.  NMFS approves and implements fisheries outside of three miles in the Pacific
Ocean off of Washington’s coast. Washington approves and implements fisheries inside of
three miles. NMFS requires that Washington’s ocean fisheries inside of three miles be
identical to those implemented by NMFS outside of three miles. WDFW fisheries
managers have acknowledged in deposition testimony that it is understood that NMFS will
only approve identical fisheries, and it would be impossible to manage for different
fisheries more than and less than three miles from the coast. NMFS monitors these
fisheries and modifies them, by opening, closing, or transferring quotas, as the seasons
progress. Again, state fisheries, including in season adjustments, are dictated by the
fisheries approved, funded and managed by NMFS.

37.  USFWS is a signatory to the Hood Canal Salmon Management Plan. The plan
states that it is “to serve as the basic guideline for implementation of the annual pre- and in-
season management plans by the parties.” The plans developed and implemented by the parties
result in the take of listed species.

D. Violations of the ESA.

38.  NMFS and USFWS fail to conduct Section 7 consultations for the actions of
NMES and USFWS listed above.

39.  BIA’s alleged federal action cannot serve as the basis for Section 7 consultation,

40, The actions of the parties result in substantive violations of the ESA.
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41, For example, the fishery exploitation rate on Skokomish River wild Chinook is
the highest of all ESA-listed Puget Sound Chinook populations. According to NMFES, the
estimate of the maximum population specific exploitation rate (Rebuilding Exploitation Rates or
RERSs) for this population is 35%. The RER is the maximum exploitation rate that allows for
recovery of a listed species. The 35% rate was derived by NMFS.

42.  Despite knowing that the maximum defensible exploitation rate is 35%,
NMEFS, the Treaty Tribes, and WDFW annually agree to a target exploitation rate of 50%.
Worse, as detailed in NMFS 2020 biological opinion, “[a]vailable information indicates that
observed exploitation rates have exceeded the management objective of 50 percent in all but
two years since its adoption in 2010, likely resulting in an even greater risk to rebuilding a
sustainable population (Table 22). The ceiling was exceeded by 3 percent to 13 percentage
points (average 8%) with virtually all of the overage attributable to Hood Canal terminal net
fisheries.”

43, In 2020, the agreed-to fisheries, approved by NMFS after Section 7 consultation,
were expected to have an exploitation rate of 48.3% on Skokomish River natural origin chinook.
Given the performance of past fisheries, the exploitation rate will be higher still. The result of
the fisheries was an expected natural origin escapement of 335, well below NMFS’ critical
escapement threshold of 452, Eighty three percent (83%) of the southern U.S. fishery impacts
occurred in tribal fisheries and, incredibly, only six and half percent (6.5%} of all impacts

occurred in non-treaty southern U.S. fisheries.

/
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44,  Asaresult, the population of ESA listed chinook salmon has continued a
downward spiral. The number of natural origin ESA listed Skokomish River chinook that

escaped fisheries to spawn in the recent past is as follows:

Year Escaped chinook
1999 382
2000 220
2001 105
2002 1370
2003 860
2004 748
2005 433
12006 492
2007 419
2008 292
2009 193
2010 312
2011 174
2012 210
2013 7 253
2014 206
2015 122
2016 232
2017 798
2018 161
2019 260
45. As numbers continued to crash to well below the 452 critical escapement

threshold, NMEFS failed to curtail harvest. In its biological opinion from 2020, NMFS
acknowledges that the impact of that year’s fisheries on natural origin ESA listed Skokomish
River chinook greatly exceeds the rate essential to recovery as defined by the ESA. NMFS
claims the 2020 fisheries “are consistent with the longer term transitional strategy for recovery of
the Skokomish population, the trend in natural escapements is stable”. And NMFS further
claims “the natural escapement anticipated in 2020, while below the critical threshold, is higher
than in most recent years”. Yet, the 2021 fisheries currently under review are expected to have

an even higher exploitation rate than in 2020 and result in spawning escapement of just 182
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natural origin Skokomish River chinook salmon. As part of the tribal demands for WDFW to
obtain permitting, non-treaty sport fisheries in the Skokomish River that are capable of selecting
abundant hatchery origin chinook and live-releasing natural origin chinook, are closed. The
outcome is the low number of natural origin spawners are overwhelmed by hatchery origin
chinook and now comprise less than one percent of the total natural spawning population (the
maximum historical level of hatchery origin chinook is 96%). This outcome contrésts sharply
with NMFS’ conclusion of consistency with a “transitional strategy for recovery”.

46. This rampant overharvest is widespread. According to NMFS’s 2020 biological
opinion, “[i]n summary, under the proposed action, the combined ocean and Puget Sound
exploitation rates for the 2020 fishing year for one of the 14 management units (Skagit early) and
6 of 22 total populations (Lower Sauk, Upper Sauk, Upper Cascade, Suiattle, NF Stillaguamish,
and White) are expected to be under their RER or RER surrogates (Table 34).”

47.  NMFS acknowledges that the harvest it approved in 2020 exceeded the harvest
rate required for recovery for 13 out of the 14 management units for Puget Sound chinook
salmon. Although NMFS has not yet completed a Biological Opinion analyzing the outcome of
the 2021 co-manager season-setting process, modeling of the fisheries agreed to by the
Defendants appears to show that exploitation rates exceed the RER for 10 out of the 14
management units for Puget Sound chinook salmon.

48. In 2021, the predicted return of natural origin Chinook salmon to the Skokomish
Riveris 182. The agreed to harvest rate, based on the seasons agreed to by the Defendants, is

predicted to be 49.2 percent.
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49.  The permitting process used by NMFS results in a failure by NMFS to insure that
the fisheries it authorizes are not likely to jeopardize the continued existence of any endangered
or threatened species.

V. FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
Failure to Ensure No Jeopardy Under Section 7(a)(2) of the ESA

50. Defendants Barry Thom, Chris Oliver, NMFS, Wilbur Ross, the United States
Department of Commerce, Martha Williams, USFWS, Byron Adkins, and the U.S. Department
of Interior are violating of Section 7(a)(2) of the ESA, 16 U.S.C. § 1536(a)(2), by adopting and
implementing the 2020 BiOp and its incidental take statement, by continuing to authorize and
manage salmon fisheries in the Washington, including those agreed to in 2021, without ensuring
that such fisheries will not jeopardize the continued existence of the endangered and the
threatened stocks of Puget Sound salmon and by failing to conduct required Section 7
consultations.

51. These violations of the ESA are reviewable under section 11(g) of the ESA, 16
U.S.C. § 1540(g).

VI. SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
The 2020 BiOp and 2021 Fisheries are Arbitrary, Capricious, and Not in Accordance with
Law

52. NMFS’s 2020 BiOp, including the incidental take statement provided therewith,
does not comply with ESA standards and is arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion and not
in accordance with law. The fisheries agreed to for 2021 do not comply with ESA standards and

are arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion and not in accordance with law.
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53. These violations are reviewable under the APA, 5 U.S.C. §§ 701-706.
VII. THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
BIA’s Alleged Actions Cannot Trigger Section 7 Consultation

54, BIA does not have the statutory authority to control harvest, taking, funding or
implementation of salmon fisheries in Washington. The use of the Section 7 consultation
process by NMFS based on BIA’s alleged action has resulted in procedural and substantive
violations of the ESA.

53, These violations of the ESA are reviewable under section 11(g) of the ESA, 16
U.S.C. § 1540(g).

VII. FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Failure to Conduct Section 7 Consultation

56. NMFS and USFWS have failed to consult under Section 7 for the actions of
NMFS and USFWS, including but not limited to the funding and approval of fisheries by the
State of Washington that result in the taking of listed salmon.

57. These violations of the ESA are reviewable under section 11(g) of the ESA, 16
U.S.C. § 1540(g).

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Fish Northwest prays for the following relief:
A. Issue a declaratory judgment declaring that Defendants are in violation of section
7(a)(2) of the ESA by adopting and implementing the 2020 BiOp and its incidental take
statement and by continuing to authorize, fund and manage salmon fisheries without ensuring
that such fisheries will not jeopardize the continued existence of the endangered and threatened

Puget Sound chinook salmon;
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B. Issue a declaratory judgment declaring that NMFS’s 2020 BiOp, including the incidental take
statement provided therewith, and the 2021 fisheries do not comply with ESA standards and is
arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, and otherwise not in accordance with law;

C. Issue a declaratory judgment declaring that NMFS failed to consult pursuant to Section 7 for
funding and authorizing fisheries by the State of Washington that result in the taking of listed
salmon;

D. Issue mandatory temporary and permanent injunctions requiring Defendants to comply with
the ESA;

E. Set aside NMFS’s 2020 BiOp, including the incidental take statement issued therewith;

F. Enjoin NMFS from authorizing take associated with salmon fisheries in Puget Sound until
NMFS complies with the ESA;

G. Enjoin Defendants from continuing to conduct a Section 7 consultation on the basis of BIA’s
alleged federal action;

H. Enjoin NMFS from authorizing take associated with salmon fisheries in Puget Sound until
NMFS and USFWS conduct Section 7 consultations for the actions they authorize, fund and
manage;

7
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. Award Fish Northwest its reasonable litigation expenses, including attorney fees, expert
witness fees, Court costs, and other expenses as necessary for the preparation and litigation of
this case under section 11(g)(4) of the ESA, 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g)(4), the Equal Access to Justice
Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2412 et seq., and/or as otherwise authorized by law; and

J. Grant such additional relief as the Court deems just and proper.

Dated this 28" day of April, 2021.

SCHEFTER & FRAWLEY

s/ Joel Matteson s/ Joe Frawley
JOEL MATTESON JOE D. FRAWLEY
WSBA No. 40523 WSBA No. 41814
Attorney for Plaintiff Attorney for Plaintiff
SCHEFTER & FRAWLEY
COMPLAINT Attorneys at Law
Page 17 of 17 1415 College Street SE

Lacey, Washington 98503
(360) 491-6666 * (360) 456-3632 fax
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EXHIBIT 1




Case 2:21-cv-00570 Document 1 Filed 04/28/21 Page 19 of 48

SCHEFTER & FRAWLEY

WALTER L. SCHEFTER, JR. (Retired)
wschefier@integra.net

Attorneys at Law
1415 College Street SE, Lacey, WA 98503

JOE TRAWLEY
joedfrawley@gmail.com

360-491-6666 « 360-456-3632 fax

January 29, 2021

Via Certified Mail ~ Return Receipt Requested

Director Kelly Susewind

Washington Department of Fish & Wildlife
P.O. Box 43200

Olympia, Washington 98505-3200

Commission Chair Larry Carpenter
Washington Fish & Wildlife Commission
600 Capitol Way North

Olympia, WA 98501-1091

Commission Vice Chair Barbara Baker
Washington Fish & Wildlife Commission
600 Capitol Way North

Olympia, WA 98501-1091

Commissioner Donald Mclsaac
Washington Fish & Wildlife Commission
600 Capitol Way North

Olympia, WA 98501-1091

Commisstoner Kim Thorburn
Washington Fish & Wildlife Commission
600 Capitol Way North

Olympia, WA 98501-1091

Commissioner James Anderson
Washington Fish & Wildlife Commission
600 Capitol Way North

Olympia, WA 98501-1091

Commissioner Molly Linville
Washington Fish & Wildlife Commission
600 Capitol Way North

Olympia, WA 98501-1091

Commissioner Lorna Smith

Washington Fish & Wildlife Commission
600 Capitol Way North

Olympia, WA 98501-1091

Commissioner Fred Koontz

Washington Fish and Wildlife Commission
600 Capitol Way North

Olympia, WA 98501-1091

Secretary Witbur L. Ross, Jr.
U.S. Department of Commerce
1401 Constitution Ave. N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20230

Deputy Secretary Kate MacGregor
U.S. Department of the Interior
1849 C Street N.W.

Washington, D.C. 20240

Assistant Administrator for Fisheries Chris
Oliver

NOAA Fisheries

1315 East-West Highway

Silver Spring, MD 20910

Principal Deputy Director Martha Williams
United States Fish & Wildlife Service

1849 C Sureet N.W., Room 3331
Washington, D.C. 20240



Case 2:21-cv-00570 Document 1 Filed 04/28/21 Page 20 of 48

Barry Thom, Regional Administrator Director Darryl LaCounte
National Marine Fisheries Service Bureau of Indian Affairs
600 Sand Point Way NE 1849 C Street N.W.
Seattle, WA 98115-0070 Washington, D.C. 20240

Deputy Director Steve Guertin
U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service
1849 C Street NW, Room 3331
Washington, D.C. 20240-0001

Re: Sixty-day Notice of Intent to Sue For Violations of the Endangered Species Act

Dear Honorable Civil Servants:

Pursuant to 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g), this letter serves as the Fish Northwest’s 60-day notice
of intent to sue the U.S. Department of Commerce, the Secretary of Commerce, the National
Marine Fisheries Service (also known as NOAA Fisheries). and the Northwest Regional
Administrator for the National Marine Fisheries Service (collectively “NMFS™), as well as the
Bureau of Indian Affairs, the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, and the Washington Department of

Fish and Wildlife.

There are a number of salmon and steelhead runs in Washington that are listed as either
threatened or endangered under the Endangered Species Act (ESA). Those species are caught in
fisheries conducted by both treaty and non-treaty fishers in Washington waters. Because listed
species are caught, and those fisheries impact other listed species, NMFS is responsible for
analyzing proposed salmon and steelhead fisheries, along with other actions detailed below, to
ensure compliance with the ESA.

For the past few years (since 2014), NMFS has granted single year approval for {ribal
fisheries, and fisheries proposed by the Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife (“WDFW*)
so long as WDFW complies with the Treaty Tribes® demands, under Section 7 of the ESA.
Section 7 provides for consultation among federal agencies based on a proposed “federal action.”
Relevant to this case, the alleged “federal action” is the Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIA)
“authority to assist with the development and implementation of the co-managers” salmon
seasons. While identifying BIA activities as federal actions relevant to the management of Puget
Sound salmon seasons is dubious', NMFS has intentionally ignored federal actions related to
non-treaty fisheries. In addition, despite the admission that BIA’s alleged action is development
and implementation of the “comanagers’™ fishing season (meaning both state and Treaty Tribes),
the Section 7 consultation is somehow not conducted for the state fisheries. Some examples of
federal actions by NMFS and USFWS, but certainly not all, are given in this letter.

!Individuals that have decades of experience in North of Faicon negotiations and salmon season mana-gement will
testify that they have never seen any employee of BIA being involved in salmon management.

2
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The effect, which appears intentional, is to leverage the annual negotiations in favor of
the Treaty Tribes and to the detriment of the non-treaty fishers of Washington. The process has
devolved into what more or less amounts to extortion. Treaty Tribes withhold agreement based
solely on their desired outcomes for state managed fisheries. The treaty tribes harvest hundreds
of thousands more salmon than do non-treaty fishers, and the constraints placed on state fisheries
prevent the state from obtaining the state’s share of the harvest. Importantly, the Treaty Tribes
harvest far more natural origin chinook and coho salmon than do non-treaty fishers. As
discussed below, the result is a consistent overharvest of ESA listed stocks and substantive

violations of the ESA.

Realizing the leverage they have been given, and the complete lack of public oversight,
Treaty Tribes are withholding agreement in the annual season setting process to settle non-
fishing related disputes, such as the territorial dispute between the State of Washington and the

Skokomish Tribe.2

The result is the parties are now in violation of the various orders of the court in /.S v.
Washington. Management does not oceur in a manner consistent with the Puget Sound Salmon
Management Plan. Conservation concerns regarding salmon and steelhead in Washington are
getting worse, not better, and the citizens of Washington are excluded from the management
process. A veil of secrecy has been placed over fisheries management that is not only unlawful
but also detrimental to the management and recovery of listed species. As detailed below, the
unlawful process has resulted in a number of substantive violations of the ESA.

NMEFS and BIA are complicit in this management scheme (although BIA’s role appears
to be limited to requesting consultation) and have, on a number of occasions, explicitly instructed
that WDFW must not push back against the existing process. Letters, discussed below and
attached hereto as Exhibit 2 and Exhibit 3, from NMFS confirm that NFMS and BIA will
continue to violate the ESA unless legal action is taken. It is Fish NW’s intent to file suit
following sixty days from the date of this letter if a resolution is not reached.

I. ENDANGERED SPECIES ACT BACKGROUND

The purpose of the ESA is to conserve endangered and threatened species and the
ecosystems upon which they depend.’ Section 9 of the ESA prohibits any person, including any
federal agency, from “taking” an endangered species without proper authorization. The term
“take” is statutorily defined broadly as “to harass, harm, pursue, hunt, shoot, wound, kill, trap,
capture, or collect, or to attempt to engage in any such conduct.” The definition of “harm’” has
been defined broadly by regulation as “an act which actually kills or injures wildlife. Such act
may include significant habitat modification or degradation where it actually kills or injures
wildlife by significantly impairing essential behavioral patterns, including breeding, feeding or

sheltering.”

? Attached hereto as Exhibit 1 is a resolution of the Skokomish Tribal Council requiring the tribe to withhold
agreement at North of Falcon unlfess the state acquiesces its position in a territorial dispute concerning the

reservation boundary.
16 US.C. § 1531(b).
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Under Section 7(a)(2) of the ESA, NMFS must insure that any action it authorizes, funds
or carries out is “not likely to jeopardize the continued existence of any endangered species.”
When an agency determines that its proposed action “may affect listed species” it must engage in
formal consultation with the expert federal wildlife agency responsible for the species at issue
using “the best scientific and commercial data available.” Where, as here, NMFS is both the
action agency and the expert agency, it must undertake internal consultation before taking any
action that may result in a “take™ of listed salmon and steelhead. As detailed below, that has not

happened.
[I. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

A. NMFS Takes Dozens of “Federal Actions” Annuailly That Require Consultation Under
Section 7.

Consultation under Section 7 of the ESA is required to “insure that any action authorized,
funded, or carried out by such agency” is not likely to jeopardize the continuance of any
endangered or threatened species or result in the destruction or adverse modification of habitat of
such species...” As discussed above and below, NMFS has in recent years relied on alleged
actions taken by BIA to find a “federal action” to trigger expedited review under Section 7. It
also repeatedly, and consistently, taken the position that no federal action by NMFS or USFWS
exists to provide the same expedited review to WDFW proposed fisheries. This is patently false
and will be discussed below. NMFS and USFWS take many actions annually that require it
conduct a Section 7 consultation for the fisheries they authorize, fund and carry out.

First, NMFS approves the state fisheries proposed by WDFW that take listed species of
salmon and steethead. NMFS issues directives concerning harvest each year, provides
continuous input to both WDFW and the treaty tribes before, during and after the season setting
process, and monitors catch (such as ocean catch under both state and federal re gulations) to
manage and, if necessary, open or close seasons as the year progresses. NMFS authorizes
Washington State fisheries, just as it does treaty fisheries, that annually take listed species. This
authorization alone requires NMFS to conduct a Section 7 consultation, as does the conducting
of seasons off the Washington coast that must be administered in lock-step with state fisheries,

Second, NMFS funds the Washington state fisheries in many ways. NMFS and USFWS
fund hatcheries that are intended to, and do, provide fish for Washington State fisheries. NMFS
annually contributes roughly $1 million to WDFW to implement the Pacific Salmon Treaty.
Those funds are expended to implement fisheries in Washington that result in the take of listed
species, including the development of fisheries plans, in-season management of fisheries, and the
collection of biological data to ensure fisheries are compliant with the Pacific Salmon Treaty.

NMEFS annually contributes roughly $2 million through a Pacific Coastal Salmon
Recovery Fund grant. Hundreds of thousands of those dollars are spent annually to implement

4 Attached hereto as Exhibit 2 is a letter dated January 19, 2016 from NMFS Assistant Regional Administrator
Robert Turner to then WDFW Director Jim Unsworth and Northwest Indian Fisheries Commission Lorraine Loomis.
Attached hereto as Exhibit 3 is a letter dated February 10, 2017 from NMFS Regional Administrator Barry Thom to
then WDFW Director Jim Unsworth and Northwest Indian Fisheries Commission Chair Lorraine Loomis.

4
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fisheries that take listed species. including creation of fishery plans, in season management, and
the collection of biological data to ensure fisheries are compliant with the Pacific Salmon Treaty.

USFWS annual contributes nearly $1 million to WDFW from a Dingell-Johnson Act
grant. These funds are used to implement fisheries that take listed species, including creation of
fishery plans, in season management. and the collection of biological data to ensure fisheries are

compliant with the Pacific Salmon Treaty.

Third, NMFS approves and implements fisheries outside of three miles in the Pacific
Ocean off of Washington’s coast. Washington approves and implements fisheries inside of three
miles. NMFS requires that Washington’s ocean fisheries inside of three miles be identical to
those implemented by NMES outside of three miles. WDFW fisheries managers have
acknowledged in deposition testimony that it is understood that NMFS will only approve
identical fisheries, and it would be impossible to manage for different fisheries more than and
less than three miles from the coast. NMFS monitors these fisheries and modifies them, by
opening, closing, or transferting quotas, as the seasons progress. Again, state fisheries, including
in season adjustments, are dictated by the fisheries approved, funded and managed by NMFS.

Fourth, USFWS is a signatory to the Hood Canal Salmon Management Plan. The plan
states that it is “to serve as the basic guideline for implementation of the annual pre- and in-
season management plans by the parties.” The plans developed and implemented by the parties
result in the take of listed species.

Fish NW can readily prove that NMFS and USFWS take many actions annually that
require Section 7 consultation. As discussed below, Fish NW will seek injunctive relief
enjoining the procedurally defective season setting process from continuing.

B. BIA’s Federal Action is Dubious At Best.

Section 7 consultation is required when a federal agency takes an action that harms a
listed species. Importantly, not every federal action can trigger Section 7 consultation. “Section
7 and the requirements of this part apply to all actions in which there is discretionary federal
involvement or control.” 50 CFR § 402.03. “Where an agency has no ability to prevent a certain
effect due to its limited statutory authority over the relevant actions, the agency cannot be
considered a legally relevant ‘cause’ of the effect, and the agency action therefore should not be
considered “discretionary™ actions subject to Section 7. Defenders of Wildlife v. U.S.
Environmental Protection Agency, 420 F.3d 946, 963 (quoting Dep't. of Transp. v. Public
Citizen, 541 U.S. 752, 770 (2004)) (overruled on other grounds).

BIA does not exercise discretionary control of the fisheries, is not the “cause” of the
taking of listed species during treaty fisheries, and is nothing more than a convenient vehicle for
the parties to attempt to frigger Section 7 of the ESA. A federal “action” was created in 2014 to
allow fishing to go forward based on the Treaty Tribes’ fisheries when the parties failed to timely

complete a multi-year fisheries plan.

C. The Existing Process Is Weaponized Against Non-Treaty Citizens of Washington and
the Salmon and Steelhead Resources of Washington Staie.

5



Case 2:21-cv-00570 Document 1 Filed 04/28/21 Page 24 of 48



Case 2:21-cv-00570 Document 1 Filed 04/28/21 Page 25 of 48



Case 2:21-cv-00570 Document 1 Filed 04/28/21 Page 26 of 48



Case 2:21-cv-00570 Document 1 Filed 04/28/21 Page 27 of 48



Case 2:21-cv-00570 Document 1 Filed 04/28/21 Page 28 of 48



Case 2:21-cv-00570 Document 1 Filed 04/28/21 Page 29 of 48



Case 2:21-cv-00570 Document 1 Filed 04/28/21 Page 30 of 48



Case 2:21-cv-00570 Document 1 Filed 04/28/21 Page 31 of 48



Case 2:21-cv-00570 Document 1 Filed 04/28/21 Page 32 of 48



Case 2:21-cv-00570 Document 1 Filed 04/28/21 Page 33 of 48



Case 2:21-cv-00570 Document 1 Filed 04/28/21 Page 34 of 48



Case 2:21-cv-00570 Document 1 Filed 04/28/21 Page 35 of 48



Case 2:21-cv-00570 Document 1 Filed 04/28/21 Page 36 of 48



Case 2:21-cv-00570 Document 1 Filed 04/28/21 Page 37 of 48



Case 2:21-cv-00570 Document 1 Filed 04/28/21 Page 38 of 48



Case 2:21-cv-00570 Document 1 Filed 04/28/21 Page 39 of 48



Case 2:21-cv-00570 Document 1 Filed 04/28/21 Page 40 of 48



Case 2:21-cv-00570 Document 1 Filed 04/28/21 Page 41 of 48



Case 2:21-cv-00570 Document 1 Filed 04/28/21 Page 42 of 48



Case 2:21-cv-00570 Document 1 Filed 04/28/21 Page 43 of 48



Case 2:21-cv-00570 Document 1 Filed 04/28/21 Page 44 of 48



Case 2:21-cv-00570 Document 1 Filed 04/28/21 Page 45 of 48



Case 2:21-cv-00570 Document 1 Filed 04/28/21 Page 46 of 48



Case 2:21-cv-00570 Document 1 Filed 04/28/21 Page 47 of 48



Case 2:21-cv-00570 Document 1 Filed 04/28/21 Page 48 of 48



